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SYNOPSIS 

We initiated this investigation in December 2012 after receiving a complaint from the legal team of a 
former BP contractor who filed a False Claims Act lawsuit against BP in 2009. The lawsuit stated that 
Atlantis, a BP deepwater production platform in the Gulf of Mexico, lacked critical engineering 
documentation that created a serious safety risk. 

The complaint we investigated referred to a Bureau of Ocean Energy Management, Regulation and 
Enforcement (BOEMRE) structural engineer who had participated in an investigation of Atlantis 
initiated by BOEMRE after the lawsuit was filed. This engineer claimed that BOEMRE's 
investigation was flawed and incomplete. The complaint also implied that (2) 
BOEMRE's Houma District Manager and the lead on the BOEMRE investigation, of 
interest because he had approved many ofthe.Atlantis platform's original permits. finally, the 
complaint stated that (3) BOEMRE's investigative report on Atlantis, issued in March 2011, failed to 
interpret or comment on a specific regulation, the 2002 version of 30 C.P.R. § 250.901 (d). that applied 
to Atlantis at the time the platform was built and deployed, and that- failed to ensure that BP 
had complied with the regulation. 

We did not substantiate the allegation that the investigation was flawed and incomplete. Rather, we 
found that BOEMRE kept the scope of the investigation deliberately focused on the issue of the 
engineering documentation, a decision with which the structural engineers who served on the 
investigative team were vocaJly displeased. We also found a fundamental disagreement between the 
structural engineers and the production engineers and BOEMRE management as to the interpretation 
and application of a subpart of the pertinent regulations, 30 C.F.R. §§250.900- 921, also known as 
Subpart 1. This disagreement remained unresolved at the end of our investigation. 
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Om investigation focused on the allegations of a conflict of interest and/or misconduct by­
while he investigated saf.eoncerns about the Atlantis platfmm. Several BOEMRE staff engmeers 
and managers stated that showed no bias when leading the Atlantis investigation. 
Moreover, another BOEMRE o c~al took over the role of lead during the last 6 months of the 
investigation and wrote the final Atlantis repmt. 

We also investigated the allegation that BOEMRE's investigative repmt on Atlantis failed to properly 
inte1pret and apply the 2002 version of30 C.F.R. § 250.901(d). We found that BOEMRE did not 
become aware of the allegation until some 6 months after its report was issued. 

BACKGROUND 

Atlantis is a BP-owned deepwater oil and gas production platfmm in the Gulf of Mexico. It was built 
and deployed between approximately 2005 and 2007. 

On February 24, 2010, several members of Congress wrote to then Minerals Management Service 
(MMS) 1 DirectorS. Elizabeth Birnbaum, urging her to direct a full investigation of whether BP had all 
of the required engineering drawings for the Atlantis platfmm and its subsea components in place 
before pmduction from the platform began, and to repmt the results to Congress (Attachment 1). The 
Bureau of Ocean Energy Management, Regulation and Enforcement (BOEMRE) released a repmt on 
its Atlantis investigation on March 4, 2011. The investigation concluded that the facility was safe. 

DETAILS OF INVESTIGATION 

'"""·~"'"· · •u after receiving a letter, dated December 11 , 2012, fi:om-
attomey, requ-stin an investigation related to her client's False Cla~
against t 2). complaint letter refened to a BOEMRE employee, whom we 
later identified as Advanced tructur Engineer- who participated in the BOEMRE 
investigation and who claimed it had been condt~The letter also implied that Houma 
District BOEMRE 's lead investigator into- False Claims Act 
allegatiollS, had a because he had approved BP's ori;:rAnantis permit 
applications. The letter further alleged that BOEMRE's Atlantis investigation report never interpreted 
or even commented on the 2002 version of30 C.F.R. § 250.901(d), which was the applicable 
regulation at the time BP filed its petmit applications for the Atlantis platform. According to 30 C.F.R. 
§ 250.901(d) (2002), the lessee is required to submit a letter to BOEMRE cettifying that a registered 
professional stluctural or civil engineer has certified the design and any modifications of the structure 
being constructed and deployed. 

1 After the April20. 2010 explosion of the Deepwater Horizon drilling rig in the Gulf of Mexico. then Secretary of the Interior Ken 
Salazar decided to reorganize MMS. MMS was renamed BOEMRE in June 2010. Then, on October 1, 2010. the Office ofNatural 
Resources Revenue became a separate U.S. Department of the Interior (DOI) office responsible for collecting revenue from mineral 
leases covering Federal lands. Finally, BOEMRE was split into the: Bureau of Safety and Envimnmental Enforcement (BSEE) and the 
Bureau of Ocean Energy Management (BOEM) on October 1. 2011 . The timeline of ow· investigation ~pans several stages of this 
reorganization. so for the sake of simplicity we will refer to the bureau as BOEMRE throughout this report. 
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Claim Tllaf the Atlantis Investigation Had Been Cond11cted Improperly 

First Phase of the Investigation, BP Headquarters, Houston, TX (June 2010- July 2010) 

was assigned to lead BOEMRE's Atlantis investigation prior to the explosion of the 
.a.v.a..a.LU'll drilling rig on Apri120, 2010.-, the manager of the Houma District for 

the past 5 years, was previously a production engineer in the Houma District (Attachment 3). He 
started working for BOEMRE in 1997. 

According to- BOEMRE initiated its review of the Atlantis platfmm in late 2009 after 
- ftled ~aims Act lawsuit. He said that BOEMRE met · attomeys and 
attempted to answer several questions related to their allegations but the attomeys weiiiie a arently not 
satisfied with BOEMRE's responses because the matter was then raised to Congress. said 
BOEMRE management asked him to lead the Atlantis investigation because no one in the U.S. 
Government knew more about the Atlantis platform than he does.- explained that he had 
been studying the platform for 5 years and ifBOEMRE management ever needed any questions 
answered about the platfmm, he was the person they came to. 

- stated that- attorneys provided BOE!v1R.E a list ofBP s engineering docmnents to 
;rttheir allegatio~id that while- is not an engineer BOEMRE reciiii· ed that he 
was a document specialist and believed his :Ue;tions might be credible. As a result 
traveled to Houston to review BP's Atlantis documentation, which BP offered to provtde to BOEMRE 
at the company headquarters. Two days after he ani.ved in Houston, the Deepwater Horizon drilling 
platform exploded, and- diverted his efforts from the Atlantis investigation to the Deepwater 
Horizon incident. 

According to , he restarted the Atlantis investigation approximately 6 weeks after the 
Deepwater Honzon · He was aided by BOEMRE Production Engineer who, he 
said, had the second-highest level of Government knowledge about the platfmm. plan and 
scope of the investigation at that time was for the investigative team to review doctunentatiOn for the 
Atlantis platfmm's subsea components to see ifBP was confident that the equipment had been built 
and installed to specification (Attachment~e team was also working with BP employees to 
review each drawing listed in the database- had used at BP to determine the accuracy of 
-assertion that BP lacked "as-built, drawmgs for Atlantis' subsea components. 

- said that II identified a specific "handover" process BP used when transfening 
~1 and system engineering drawings to the next stage of building the platform (see 
Attachment 3). He said that BP had an extensive chain of custody covering the handover process, and 
that BOEMRE's review of this process and the related handover packages would have identified the 
problem if- had been couect in his allegations that BP did not have the necessary ce11ified 
eugineerin~gs for the platfom1. According to the mechanical and system handover 
packages were highly detailed and so voluminous it would take her 4 years to 
complete a review ofthe documents without assistance. 

Two Structural Engineers Join the Atlantis Investigation Team 

BOEMRE management told him that stmctural engineers 
could help II review the packages.- said that he 
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had not worked with either woman before, but he welcomed their assistance. -and 
were assigned to travel to Houston to assist and-

Advanced Structural Engineer has worked for BOE.LVIRE since January 2009 
(AttachmentS). She issues energy-producing facilities operating on the Outer Continental 
Shelf and ensures that the facilities are safe and comply with applicable Federal regulations. 

-said that her first-line supervisor .-, Chief ofBOEMRE's Office of 
Structural an. d Technical Supp01t informe~nt to Houston in May 2010. Ac~ 
to was also assigned to the stmctural engineering team at that time. She and-
were structural engineers assigned during the first phase of the investigation. 

According to she . alternated their travel to BP's Houstouheadquarters to work 
on the· was assrgned to travel to Houston first.- reviewed the pertinent 
regulations with tutored her on stmcturing an investigation before- left for 
Houston because had only 4 years of engineering experience. 

- said that she contactedll before went to Houston to try to learn about the stmcture 
and parameters of the!!!. · vesti tiou. II told her that the investigation's 
structure was "fluid . ., said that she were smprised by this comment because they 
knew the investigation was re ated to a legal matter therefore they believed it should have been 
more rigidly structured. 

- who has since been promoted to Chief ofBSEEII 's Environmental Inspection and Enforcement 
Unit, said that in Houston she was assigned to help review ' data books" (Attachment 6). These 
data books contained a large amount of iuf01mation on the equipment attached to the Atlantis 
production platfonn, including information related to who manufactured the eq11ipmeut, how the 
equipment was meant to function, and how it was attached to the platfotm. According: to-· the 
data books did not contain structural designs, nor did tbey include "issued-for-constmction" or "as­
built" drawings 2 which she tmderstood to be the focus of the investigation based on her review of the 

lawsuit and the request fi:om Congress- said that she recommended to Ill and 
that they ask BP for these drawing~au review the data books. 

2 Issued-for-construction drawings are drawings that have been re'll"iewed. checked, approved. and officially released as completed 
doc1ltllents for construction. As-built drawings are a revised set of drawings submitted by a contactor upon completion of a project or a 
particular job. They reflect all changes made in the specifications and worlcing drawings during the construction process. and show the 
exact dimensions, geometry. and location of all elements of the work completed. 
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Discomfort Over the Investigation Grows 

According to - sent her several text messages dtu1ng- initial visit to Houston. 
telling her that was ~ortable with how the investigation was structured and how it was being 
conducted (see Attachment 5).- said that the experience upset-. She met with­
the weekend after- finis~first rotation in Houston and tr.ied""to"'advise her on how an 
investigation shou~nducted.- told~t she wanted to prepare as much as 
possible before joining the investig~self, ~ replied: "I don't think you need to wony 
about being prepared." 

- described for us her experiences on her first trip to Houston. Upon her aJ.Tival she fotmd the 
mveshgation to be ''very limited," and she could not understand the direction it was taking. 
explained that because the investigation was responding to a congressional request she exp 
to fmd a far more comprehensive and stmctmed investigation. 

- said she assumed the investigation was so unstmct\ued because the BOEMRE employees 
~ did not have much private-sector 

II 
expe1ience. Accordingly - said, she made several 

suggestions to- and as to how BOEMRE should proc~ the investigation in order 
to make it "de~ut they quickly let her know that her suggestions were not welcome.-
said that rather than consider her suggestions, · her to review documentation 
unrelated to her duties as a structural engineer. said that she did not tmderstand this direction, 
but did what- told her to do because lead. 

- also said that during her first Houston trip, she had several discussions with- about 
~cability of the Federal regulations to Atlantis, dmin-hich th-disa ·eed a~O 
C .F.R. §§ 250.900- 921 (Subpart !)3 applied. According to stated several times 
that he believed that BOEMRE does not regulate a production p at 01m s su sea components, yet 

knew that subsea equipment was "clearly listed in our regulations." 

stated that he assigned - to review the mechanical and system 
when theyl!e an assistmg m Atlantis investigation in Houston (see Attachment 3). He 

said that- and Jefused to 
lliiillil 
com 1 with the assignment because ''they had their own 

ideas" about what needed to e done, and in particular was adamant a~ doing what 
she believed she should be doing. He state~ was not sure how to handle- because he 
was not her direct supetvisor. 

- told us that during her work in Houston she came to believe that BP was being allowed to 
~the investigative effm1 (see Attachment 6). For example, she said, BP had requested updates on 
BOEMRE's effmts in the investigation, which she believed was inappropriate. 

According to-and-- became so disttu·bed about how the investi.tion was 
being conductedthat:he b~err concerns to BOEMRE Regional Director Adviso 
in late Jtme 2010, telling her that she felt uncomfortable because BP employees often entere e 
BOEMRE investigative team's workspace and asked probing questions about the· · · 
Attachments 5 and 6).- said that- specifically complained to- that , a 

3 The BOEMRE regulations goveming offshore oil and gas operations in the Outer Continental Shelf are fotu1d in 30 C.F.R. § 250. 
Different regulatory requirements apply to different components of an offshore oil and gas production facility. The regulatiom are 
divided into subparts applicable to the different components. Subpatt I (30 C.F.R §§ 250.900-.921) applies to platfonns and stntctures. 
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former BOEMRE emplo~ was now wor~ BP., regularly approached her with specific 
questions. According to- both she and- were concerned that BP may have been trying 
to control the investigation. 

We interviewed-, who has worked for BOEMRE for 32 years (Attachment 7). fu her current 
position, she ide~ legal issues and offers the regional director informal legal advice, including 
outlining whether formal legal counsel would be needed from either DOl's Solicitor's Office (SOL) or 
the Department of Justice. 

-confirmed that during the early phase of the Atlantis investigation,- told her that the 
· · · 's · might be at risk because it was being conducted at BP's headquarters. 

a stellar employee" who the book," so she placed faith in 
perspective. told us that she contact her third-line supervisor, 
Supervisor Field Operations and ask that BOEMRE relocate the 

investigation to New Orleans. was not certam spoke to- about the matter, but 
- assumed that she did. said that she may talked dir~ herself about 
~tter but she was not stated that beyond this advice t~was not 
involved with the Atlantis investigatlon. 

- told us that sometime after- spoke wit~, BOEMRE management informed BP 
~investigation would be relocated to New Orleans (see Attachment 5). fu August 2010, all 
documents from the investigation were moved from BP's headquarters in Houston to BOEMRE's New 
Orleans District Office, and the second phase of the Atlantis investigation began. 

Second Phase of the Investigation, BOEMRE Office, New Orleans (August 2010- October 2010) 

- told us that her supervisor, • • told her and- that they needed to continue assisting 
the mvestigation after it was relocated to New Orleans (see Attachment 5). By- second trip 
to Houston, however, had concluded that she did not want her name a~ with the 
investigation, and she · · asked her to do.- decided to 
ask to be removed from the~ but about the invest:tgation that-
withheld her request so that- be removed instead. 

-said that once the first phase ofthe investigation was completed, she emailed- asking to 
~ved (see Attachment 6)~- said that she made this request for several reasons: 1) she was 
very busy with her .notmal work.io:d;i) she did not feel that she was being managed as a professional; 
3) she did not feel she was being tasked with appropriate duties for a stmctural engineer; and 4) she did 
not feel comfortable with the interaction between BOEMRE and BP.- agreed to allow her to be 
taken off the investigation. 
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- also said that in August 20 I 0,- drafted a summary of her Houston experiences that 
was accurate as well as "very scathing ~st'' (Attachment 8) -~~ received a copy of 
-report and emailed it on September 5, 2010, to-, to ~uded to., saying that 
it was a "good job and very thorough" (see Attachment 4). 

The Final Stntctural Enghteering Team Is Formed 

- said that early .in the second phase of the investigation ~ced a substantial number of 
structural drawings for review (see Attachment 6). She said that- asked her to rejoin the 
~tive effort an~eview them, and she agreed to do so patt tlme. From this point onward, 
--and- made up the investigation's structmal engineering team. 

c din to-before- stru1ed work on the investigation again, approached 
to~ "groun~' so that they could proceed!f!M·es ectfully as a while 

ging that their approaches differed (see Attacluuent 5). suggest.d wa s to 
-professionally disagree while reporting the investigative team's fin gs mfonned that she 
believed the investigation should JJroceed in a more fonnal malUler, and suggested at a 
conununication with BP go throu~ because he was the lead. According to 
- listened to her and agr~e~orward with the investigation in a prcttes:stonal 

-explained ==. to us that these ground rules were meant to avoid a repetition of the tension that had 
between the st:mcttual e-· · eers and- during the first phase of the investigation 

Attachment 6). According to ho~day she ru-rived to assist in the second phase, 
immediately confronte er again about her views of how the investigation should be 

".., ........... ," .... She said he stressed that Atlantis had no stmctural issues if Federal regulations had not 
been violated. 

We also intetviewed Structural Engineer- who began 
engineering group in 2009 (Attachment 9). He said that he ~.~. ................ , 
spreadsheets and review the Atlantis engineering drawings for 
signatures or labels. 

According to- he was tmsure about the direction the investigation was taking. - said that he 
had reviewelthe.~ginal congressional request several times and it appeared to him thatCongress was 
concerned about "BP's document control" regarding Atlantis.- added that when the structw·al 
engineers attempted to locate the e-· eering drawings they n::dedto review they found it difficult 
due to BP's flawed index system. noted that the production engineers assigned to the Atlantis 
investigation were not as concerue about this situation as the structural engineers. 

BOEMRE Focuses Its Investigation on Regulatory' Function 

On July 21, 2010, 18 members of Congress sent a letter to DOl Secretary Salazar and BOEMRE 
Director Michael Bromwich urging BOEMRE to take steps to ensure the safe operations of the 
Atlantis platform (Attachment 10). 

- told us that as the investigation was being relocated to New Orleans, he recommended to 
~manager-, Regional Supervisor for Regional Field Operations~ 
-that the Atlantis mvestigation focus on regulatory documents (see Attac~ 
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explained that he felt that BOEMRE should only be reviewing documents that BP had actually been 
required by regulation to submit -or a roval and oversight dmmg Atlantis constmction and 
commission. He said that., , agreed with this 8J>proach and that- sent a 
letter to BP on July 21, 2010, requesting pel1ment stroctural and production documents and drawings 
(Attachment 11). He said that both the production engineers and the stmctmal engineers should have 
followed this approach, but the stmctmal engineers were attempting to change •'how they [were] doing 
business." 

Dw"ing their interviews,- and-confinned that they agreed with­
recommended approach "(AiiiC"hments 12 and 13). -also said that if BOEMRE leamed after 
conducting the Atlantis investigation that it needed to tighten the pertinent regulations, it should do so 
for the futme, but it could not retroactively penalize BP for following BOEMRE's interpretation of the 
regulations at the time the facility was constructed and approved. 

BOEMRE Coucludes That Atlantis' Subsea Components Are Not Covered by Subpart I 

-

. 
said she,- and-all believed that according to regulations contained in Subpart I, 

!!!
BOEMRE was responsible for ensuring the compliance of all subsea components of any platform 

on the Outer Continental Shelf, including Atlantis (see Attachment 5). She said that 
however, believed that Subpru.t I did not apply to the subsea components of drilling or 

p 1 non Elatfonns and this was the interpretation BOEMRE-lltimatel followed when writing its 
al 1.-said that- continually confronted about the subject, but 

~mply state to them that "somebody" had decide that BOEMR.E was not going to 
.. gt bsea stmctures. 

-explained her belief that Subpali I does apply to subsea components (see Attachment 6). She 
::rtl:t the structmal engineers did their best to provide BOEMRE management with the engineers ' 
professional view of Subpart I, but BOEMRE management simply accepted- interpretation 
which was that hist01ically Subpart I only applied to "weight-be~ structmes attached to a 
platform, not to subsea components. She stated that even though- supervised her and the rest of 
the structmal engineers he was not a stmctmal engineer himself and his interpretation was flawed. 

- ... u l"""'" that the st11tctural engineers interpreted Subpat1 I differently than the production 
engineers and (see Attachment 9). He felt that the regulations in Subpart I were worded in a 
way that interpretation . 

• , who is now retired from BOEMRE, directly supe.1vised - - · and dtu:ing 
the Atlantis investigation (Attachment 14). He told us he dis-·eed with the engmeers ' 
assertion that subsea components were covered in Subpart I. said that he attempted to "steer" the 
stmctmal engineers away from this view, but they chose to follow a 'real strict literal" interpretation 
of the subpat1. 

We also interviewed SOL Attome~ who was int1"oduced to the Atlantis investigation 
after- filed his False Claims~~in 2009 (Attachment 15). She was.::=d to help 
BOEMRE evaluate whether allegations represented a violation of Subpart said that 
the core legal issue that case appeat·ed to rely on was the notion that Subpat1 
built drawings for subsea components. Accordingly, she reviewed the regulations and 

I.-
I requues as-
found that the 

Subpatt I requirement for as-built drawings did not apply to subsea components. 
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In addition to reviewi land its administrative and legislative history consulted with 
BOEMRE engineers about whether BOEMRE had h 
components under S - and informed her that BOEMRE 
had not historically interpreted Subpart 1 as to subsea components only to load-bearing 
structures. As a result, BOEMRE had not historically required companies like BP to provide as-built 
drawings of subsea components. She documented ~sis of the issue and provided copies of 
it to Michael Bromwich, BOEMRE Director, and- Director ofBOEMRE's 
Investigations and Review Unit (Attachment 16). · 

BOEMRE Concludes That Engineering Drawings Do Not Need "As Built" Stamp 

In addition to the structural engineers' disagreement with- interpretation t~t I's as­
built requirement does not apply to subsea components, they also disagreed with- and­
about what constituted an as-built engineering drawing, in particular whether the drawing should be 
labeled or stamped with the words "as built." 

In an August 25 2010 email response to BOEMRE s July 21, 2010 document request, BP defined its 
labeling standard for as-built drawings and final handover drawings (see Attachment 4).­
- and- exchanged emails about this information on August 31,2010, concluding that BP's 
labeling system complied with regulations. 

When interviewed- said that he remembered several email discussions about the definition of 
an as-built engineering drawing during the Atlantis investigation (see Attachment 13). He said that he 
did not contribute to these discussions but knew that the as-built label was a significant point of 
discussion.- said he learned that several companies had different ways of labeling their drawings 
to indicate that they were as-built drawings, even if the drawings did not have the actual words "as 
built" stamped on them.- believed such labels were acceptable under Federal regulations. 

- explained that the structural engineers looked at the as-built requirement as if it were a house 
that was being built, not an offshore production platform (see Attachment 14). He said that offshore 
operators do not create final as-built drawings. According to the final engineering drawing 
made at the time the component or structure was put into commission is all that is necessary, not a 
drawing stamped "as built." 

In contrast to these beliefs,- said that in order for a structural engineering drawing to be 
classified as an as-built drawing, it needed to have an as-built stamp on it (see Attachment 6). 
According to BOEMRE management adopted the idea that if structural engineering drawings 
represent as- then the drawings comply with the regulations. She said that thi 
~tation is contrary to the genera.! professional standards of structural engineering. Furthermore, 
- said, even if this interpretation could be legally justified under the regulations, she believed 
that drawings stamped as built should be required in order to determine whether the designs on the 
drawings complied with general professional standards. 

-also acknowledged that BOEMRE' s upper management decided that as-built engineering 
drawings did not need the exact words "as built" on them (see Attachment 9). He explained that he has 
never worked in private industry and therefore was not familiar with industry labeling standards, but an 
as-built drawing should ideally have the label. 
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SOL attorney- said that she did not examine whether a structmal engineering drawing 
needed the wo~stamped on it to satisfy the regulations' requirements (see Attaclm1ent 15). 
Like-, she explained that each company involved in creating the drawings had different codes 
for t~uilt drawings. TI1erefore, BOEMRE seemed satisfied that the drawings complied with the 
regulations even though several drawings did not have the exact stamp or words "as built.''- did 
not express an opinion about whether BOEMRE could legally make such an interpretation ~er 
the regulations require "as built" to appear on drawings. 

The Production Engineering Team and the Structural Engineering Team Split (September 2010) 

- became responsible only for the production engineers working on the Atlantis investigation 
~cated to New Orleans altho~tained the title oflead for a time (see Attachment 3). 
He told us that it was clear to him that- would not take any direction from him and so he was 
relieved o~nsibility of trying to asstgn any tasks to the stmctural engineers. From that point 
onwards,- said, he had no control over or knowledge of the stmctural engineers' activities 
during the mvestigation. 

Tensions Continue to Grow Between Domangue and the Stmctural Engineers 

- explained that after learning that the engineering teams continued to have problems working 
~e directed- to have- monitor how the stroctmal engineers were working with 
- and the p~on engiueefSTsee Attachment 12). 

-and-described · direct oversight to the stmctural engineers (see 
~ents ~3 and 14). Accor~g to - infotmed h~m that he was "ex:tre~ely 
frustrated" w1th the structural engmeers ~not followmg- directions and 
were going "beyond the scope" of the congressional request and the regt~ments.­
said that he therefore directed-to oversee the stmchual engineers directly inchtding visrt:gfue 
structural engineers' desi!Jte~ site iu the New Orleans District Office a couple of times a day. 

did not remember reporting .articular issues to him after- started providing 
more oversight to the stmcttu·a engineers. confirmed that he visited the New Orleans work site 
every day and worked closely with the strnchua engineers while they reviewed engineering drawings 
along with actually reviewing the drawings himself. 

When interviewed,- confirmed that came to him with concerns about 
as-was~ complaints -(see Attachment 1 
th~ied- request to be the ~estigation because o.._,r:;,J.'v~r:;, 
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trying to meet a congressional deadline and it would have taken far too much time to replace her. He 
said that he tried to encourage-and- to work together as a team. 

- said that the sbllctmal engineers continued to have concerns about the second phase of the 
mvesttgation (see Attachment 6). For example, she · when the structural engineers requested 
certain structural engineering drawings to review would attempt to limit their review to 
platform drawings, versus subsea drawings. the structural engineers also believed that 
the BOEMRE employees who were interviewmg wttnesses for the investigation were not aski~ 
witnesses ~ns related to sbllctural engineering. The engineers raised these concerns with­
rather than-

The Structural Engineers Begin Their Own Separate Report of Atlantis Findings 

""'"R'll went on and the structural engineers' concems continued to grow, stated, 
both voiced their desires to be removed from the investigation (see 5). 
and- met with- on September 15, 20 l 0, and he told them to produce a 

report their ~gs (see Att~ts 5 6 and 9)- said that she was satisfied with 
this direction because based on her observations, she would n~een comfottable signing her 
name to the production engineers ' findings (see Attaclunent 6).- said that he also embraced this 
direction because the three could then feel asswed that they wo~ able to docUlllent their concerns 
and findings without having to combine them with those of the production engineers (see Attachment 
9). 

-said that at this meeting, he listened to the structural engineers' general concerns and issues 
~achmeut 12). He did not remember specifics, but he believed that he told them to compile their 
findings and conclusions separately from the production engineel'S so that they could be incorporated 
into one final BOEMRE report. He did not believe he told them to prepare a separate final repolt. 

The structural engineers finalized their own repo11 of Atlantis findings and conclusions on September 
28 2010 (Attachment 17). They presented their fmdings to-and-. According to 
- this represented the end of the second phase of the mvestigation~ent 6). 

Third Phase ofthe Investigation, BOEMRE Office, New Orleans, and BOEMRE Headquarters, 
Washington, DC (October 2010- March 2011) 

fu June 2010, in response to the Deepwater Horizon explosion, 
Michael Bromwich began working for BOEMRE (Attach 
interviewed was serving as the Acting Assistant Secretary, Land 
that he was a senior advisor to Bromwich during the Atlantis · 
"lieutenant." The Atlantis investigation was already undetway when 
BOEMRE. 

A New BOEMRE Unit Takes Over the Investigation 

According to Bromwich established the fuvestigations and Review Unit shottly after 
becoming · man effort to repair BOEMRE's credibility. He said that Bromwich believed that 
he needed to establish the capacity within BOEMRE to identify, respond to, and investigate allegations 
of misconduct, both intemal and industry related. Once Bromwich learned of the congressional request 
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and the Atlantis · Bromwich decided that the unit should become 
to take over as lead for the investigation . 

•• who is now the senior advisor to the BSEE Director, was hired by Bromwich in July 2010 
{Attachment 19). According to-, he started performing a significant amount of work on the 
investigation in September 20 I 0 and became the lead for the investigation at tllat time. 

- said that he recognized early on that the relationship between the structural engineers and the 
production engineers was "completely broken." As a r~~an communicating directly with 
each team as opposed to trying to communicate tllrou~, who at the time was still tile 
overall lead. 

According to-, when he initially took over as lead, he attempted to keep the investigation 
narrowly foe~ whether BP's actions in deploying Atlantis may have violated Federal 
regulations. He said that in September 2010 he helped prepare BOEMRE's Atlantis investigation 
~· which included t-e roduction engineers' work. He sent a draft copy of this report to-
- · and to review on October 13, 2010 (see Attachment 4). 

Bromwich Delays BOEMRE's Draft Investigation Report After the Structural Engineers' Review 

-explained how the structural engineers learned of the Atlantis investigation report that 
~planned to issue in the fall ofi!OlO see Attachment 6). After the structural engineers issued 
their separate report in September 2010 said, she was assigned to tJ.·avel with Bromwich as 
part of a BOEMRE recruitment effort. Dunng t e ·trip, Bromwich made several comments about the 
fmal BOEMRE Atlantis report, which was to be issued soon.- told us that sbe had not read the 
draft of this report before Bromwich mentioned it. 

On October 29,2010,- emailed Bromwich to describe her concerns over what she perceived to 
be mismanagement of the Atlantis investigation, over-involvement by BP, and BOE:MRE 
management's inconect approach with 1·e~1U'd to BP's · under the regulations (see 
Attachment 4). Bromwich f01warded- email to same evening, stating that her 
message was "unexpected and extrem~ling." 

The next day, Bromwich emailed- back, telling her that BOEMRE would delay releasing tile 
report, which was to be issued the next week, if she reviewed it and found that her concems had not 
been addressed. He sent her another email that day with the dra~t attached.- told him she 
had not seen the report before, nor did she believe- and- had. 

- emailed her comments to Bromwich on November 1 2010. Her email identified several areas 
~she disagreed with the report including the report's inte1pretation ofreQ:ulation:s.s the 
pettain to Atlantis' subsea components and issued-for-constmction and as-built drawings. also 
stated in her email to Bromwicll that the report did not reflect the structural ~ec ca 
understanding of design and investigative findings.-also spoke with-that same day 
and gave him her comments on the draft repo11 (see Attachment 4). 

According to-' after speaking with- and reviewing the draft BOEMRE repolt 
himself, he became concerned that the BO~estigation and report were not answer~asic 
question ofwhether Atlantis was safe (see Attachment 18). He was also concemed because- the 
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complainant who raised the allegations about the facility's safety, had not been interviewed 
dming the investigation said that these concerns led him and Bromwich to conclude that 
more work was needed report could be issued. 

ii
When interviewed, Bromwich said that he did not specifically remember- email and comments 

hrnent 20). He said that he recalled directing that the repo11 not be~ and that he directed 
to do more work on the Atlantis investigation. Bromwich said, however that he was not certain 
er- emails and comments were the ' triggering evenf' for these decisions. He also 

recalled ~appointed to leam that- had not yet been interviewed. 

The Atlantis Investigative Team Is Reassembled To Reexamine the Subsea Component Issue 

Accordin~to in early November 2010- coordinated a conference call with her,­
- · an some of the production engmeers, infomiing them that the Investigations ~
Revtew Umt p auned to look at the subsea issue again and to reassemble the investigative team (see 
Attachment 5). On November 4, 2010, emailed- with the structural engineers ' 
comments and suggestions on the draft · repofr:iong with its comments on-
complaint (see Attachment 4). In her email, stated that the report did not addre~ of 
the structural engineers' concerns about A component documentation and the stmctmal 
engineers believed that "BOE:MRE must verify that the subsea components and their parts were 
appropriately documented and approved prior to their installation and prior to the related production 
start-up dates." The structural engineers also gave- suggestions for documents that they believed 
BOEMRE needed to request from BP in order to answer the congressional inquity regarding Atlantis. 

According to- Bromwi~ directed him to expand the investigation to review and 
analyze every issue raised by~aims Act suit (see Attachment 19). Accordingly, ­
decided that he needed to inteiVtew every person- identified in his claim who supp01ted tlie 
allegations. This went beyond his original approach of detenninihg only whether BP had violated 
Federal regulations. 

told us that f01med a team to inteiView BP employees and co-ntractors as well as 
and- "'v'""'rt.. Attachment 5). The team was composed of then BOEMRE 

1-'t"l"'•nn.~tu" \n Engmeer and an individual from Bromwich's imme ate o · ce (Attachment 
21).- said that process extended through January 2011 (see Attachment 5). 
According to- provided several documents to the stmctural engineers that they had not 
seen during th~ase investigation and asked her to review them so that she could suppo11 
him dming the interviews. 

During this phase of the investigation,- said, the structural engineers' focus on the adequacy 
and completeness ofBP's structural engineering drawings continued (see Attachment 6). She said that 
BP did not have an index table for its drawings and the stmctlual engineers could never determine 
whether Bi!had rovided a complete, comprehensive set of structmal engineering drawings for 
Atlantis. said that the structmal engineers knew that Atlantis had had subsea issues in the past, 
and there ore they wanted to review how those issues might have affected the fmal drawings. Overall, 
- said she believed that the structural engineers did the best job possible with what BP 
~d, including issuing findings and recommendations for BOEMRE. 
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fu addition to assisting- in his interviews,- said, the structural engineers reviewed footage 
of Atlantis' subsea components taken by a remo~erated undetwater vehicle (ROV), along with 
the in.<Jpection reports that accompanied the footage (see Attachment 9). The ROV footage and 
associated inspection reports were provided to BOEMRE by BP. 

The Investigations and Revitnv Unit Issues a Revised Draft Report for Review, and the Stmctural 
Engineers Present a Separate Summary of Their Findings 

On Febmary 4, 2011, after the intetviews and the additional work had been .. v ...... u''"' emailed 
a revised draft of the Atlan~tt to those involved in the investigation, Ill 
-- --,and., for their review (see Attachment 

Both-and- told us that they did not read the final report in depth or provide feedback 
because they noted that this report used the same approach and regulation interpretations as the 
October 2010 draft repmt, which the structural engineers did not agree with (Attachments 22 and 23). 
They said that they did not feel it was worth their time to comment on the new report because their 
comments and recommendations on the previous draft did not affect BOEMRE's approach. Moreover, 

stated: "There was nothing [in the February 2011 draft] we could disce1n as originating from 
Attachment 5). emailed- and told him that she had concluded that 

was not · thoughts on the repmt and that they did to provide any 
input (see Attachment 4). 

fustead of providing comments, on Febmary 7, 2011,- emailed- a six-page summary of 
the structural engineers' fmdings and conclusions (Attachment 24). This smmnary was a subsection 
of a full structural engineering smnrnaty report, also dated Febmary 7, that the stmctural engineers 
produced separately from BOEMRE's fin~ on the Atlantis investigation (Attachment 25 and 
see Attachment 5). In her email to -wrote that out of the "hundreds of findings' in the 
third-party ROV inspection reports reviewed the stJ.uctural engineers' summary included "those 
we thought were most alarming" (see Attachment 4). 

According to- the structural engineers observed insulation cracking and materials leaking from 
Atlantis into ~f of Mexico while reviewing the third-party ROV footage (see Attachment 9). He 
noted that the cracked insulation was similar to problems BP was experiencing with another platform. 
He said that the structural engineers did not know what types of materials were leaking into the Gulf 
and so simply documented their observations and fmdings in their rep01t. 

-reviewed the summaty of the report and fotwarded it to- the same day with a request 
for a meeting (see Attachment 4). He wanted to discuss whether the Investigations and Review Unit 
should issue the final BOEMRE report as drafted, issue the report while allowing the stmctural 
engineers to work on a separate report that would require BP to explain a-1 of the roblems they had 
noted, or delay the BOEMRE repm1nntil these problems were resolved. wrote back to say 
he would read the rep011 and they could talk the next day; he also fotwar e t e summa1y to 
Bromwich. 

We showed- copies of the email exchange a11d the smmnary.- stated that he did 
not specifically remember receiving or reviewing the summary, but he r~at dming this phase 
of the investigation he continued to be concerned about whether it was answering the core question at 
issue with the facility: its overall safety (see Attachment 18). When we interviewed Bromwich, he also 
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stated that he did not recall receiving or reviewing the structural engineers' summary (see Attachment 
20). 

On F ebtuary 8 2011 , - em ailed that he wanted to meet with the stmctural 
engineers in New Orleans the next participating via telephone (see Attachment 4). 
After the meeting, didn't they know what the call was about? 
I feel like I to us that the teleconference was to discuss any 
ongoing concems the engmeers had regarding the report's completeness, along with 
discussing the path fotward (see Attachment 18). He was frustrated, however, because there seemed to 
be no stmcture to the conference call and he had to step in and provide talking points about the 
structural engineers' concems. 

- · to explain that the structural engineers believed there were issues outside 
~ope of the report . still needed to be explored, but "for some reason no one was willing to step 
to the plate and talk to you about those issues" (see Attachment 4)- also stated in his email that 
he would support further· · · into the struchual engineers' Issues ifBromwich agreed they 
were "important enough." forwarded- response to Bromwich and Bromwich wrote 
that he would speak with 

According to-, dtuing the February 9 meeting -and-made it clear to the 
sbuctural en~at the Atlantis investigation nee~om~on and they wanted to 
hear directly from the engineers about its issues (see Attachment 6).- said that all of the 
stiucmral engineers expressed their feelings that their February 2011 re~oke for itself with 
respect to their findings, concerns, andiecommendations. She said that-did not seem to know 
how to deal with the structural engineers' findings. asked them: "How do we move 
forward?" and they told him that they would prepare recommendations on how to do so. 

- remembered the Febmary 9 meeting as "unremarkable" (Attachment 26). She recalled 
~to prepare a swnmary of the stmctural engineers' findings that would educate nontechnical 
readers. 

A Febmary 14 2011 email exchange between Bromwich and indicated that 
Bromwich and- had a telephone conversation that 
After reviewin~ exchange Bromwich must have spoken w · 
about the structural engineers' concems that day, but he does not specifically remember contactmg 
about this matter or the substance of the conversation he had with her (see Attachment 20). 

When asked about her February 14 conversation with Bromwich and , - said that 
Bromwich requested the conference call in order to discuss the engmeers ' findings (see 
Attachment 6). According to Bromwich said that BOEMRE needed to conclude the Atlantis 
investigation and issue a report. told Bromwich that it was not the structural engineers' 
intention to delay the BOEMRE t·eport, that they stood by their findings and believed that their 
~d given BOEMRE management all of the information necessary to decide how to proceed. 
-said that she also infouned Bromwich that the structural engineers' concerns and issues raised 
m September 2010 were stillruuesolved (see Attachment 23). 

Two days after the Febmary 9 meeting in New Orleans- sent an updated draft Atlantis report to 
Bromwich and- (see Attachment 4). - suggested adding a footnote to the report 
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explaining the scope ofthe investigation and BOEJvfRE's responsibility to follow up on the issues the 
stmchlf81 engineers identified that were outside the scope but required further examination. The 
footnote proposed by was ultimately included in the fmal BOEMRE report: 

Perfonnance of a full audit of the present condition of all subsea components was not 
within the scope of this investigation. BOEMRE is confi11uiug its regulatory review of 
the performance aPid integri(v of the Atlantis facility's subsea components [emphasis 
added], including wellheads, j umpers, and other components, and will take any 
appropriate action necessary to ensure the safe operation of the Atlantis facility and its 
subsea systems and components. 

-and Bromwich both told us that they had no specific recollection of this footnote (see 
~ts 18 and 20). When asked whether or not the sttUctural engineers' fmdiugs and 
recommendations were ever addressed or inv-sti ted after the repmt was released, as the footnote and 
- email suggested would be the case, stated that he did not remember whether 
anyone was directed to do so. Bromwich also irutla y stated that he did not remember but he did recall 
having a personal conversation · about the stmctural engineers' concerns. 

Bromwich explained that he was in New Orleans on another matter when- was pointed out to 
him, and he asked if he could speak with her about the investigation. Bro~called telling 
- that he took the structural engineers' concerns seriously and agreed that they needed to be 
~up on. He also told- that while he did not believe the structural engineers' concerns 
should be incorporated into t~igation. he encouraged her to pursue them separately with his 
support. He admitted, however: "I don't know if she remembers it that way or not." 

on February 15, 2011, stating: "We can release the Atlantis report 
without fearing that is] going to create issues about it" (see Attachment 4). After reviewing 
this email, · us he sent it because he believed that during his conversation with 
-she had agreed that there was "nothing incoiTect in the repmt" (see Attachment 20). 
Bromwtch added that- was concerned with the scope of the rep011 and he said that he would 
not have let the report~ if she had told him its content was inaccw·ate. He fiuther stated that it 
was his distinct impression that as long as the structural engineers' concems were addressed in some 
way-even separately from the report-=-- had agreed to the report's release. 

Conflict Continues Over Whether BOEMRE Pursues the Stntctural Engineers' Concerns 

On Febmary 17, 2011,- emailed Bromwich a two-page document from the structural 
engineers, entitled "The Bureau of Ocean Ener~ment, Regulation and Enforcement, Atlantis 
fuvestigation: Path Forward" (Attachment 27).- email notified Bromwich that the stmctural 
engineers considered their work to be "substantially complete" (see Attachment 4). The "Path 
Forward" document identified several "lingering concerns" that they suggested "demand the 
BOEMRE's immediate attention," including "indications of possible well integrity deficiencies" (see 
Attachment 27). It also included their recommendations that an engineering evaluation of the integrity 
of all Atlantis wells be conducted, that BOEMRE establish an appropriate subsea monitoring regimen 
for Atlantis, that BOEMRE request the inspection and assessment documents and video related to 
possible cracks in Atlantis' flowline field joints, and that BOEMRE request detailed drawings for 
Atlantis' critical components, such as wellheads and n·ees. 
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Bromwich told us that he recalled thinking as he read the document that it confirmed his understanding 
that the structural engineers wanted him to be aware of their ongoing concerns, but at the same time 
agreed to the report be· released without addressing those concerns in it (see Attachment 20). He 
said that he had given and- permission to pursue their concerns and he did not believe 
that they needed more than he added that he as umed the~ have informed their supervisors 
that they had the Director's support. According to Bromwich -had proved that she was an 
assertive person; therefore, the notion that she may have believed she needed further direction from a 
lower-level supervisor in addition to permission from him "rings a little hollow." 

In contrast, - said that she never knew that Bromwich had final approval of the Atlantis 
investigation report (see Attachment 26). She said that during her meeting with Bromwich, they 
discussed unrelated issues and only briefly touched on the Atlantis investigation. 

We told- about Bromwich's assertion that had agreed that there was "nothing 
incorrect in the report" and that it was ready to be Attachment 22).- replied that 
she never told Bromwich that she believed there was nothing incorrect in the final report or that she 
was "agreeable" to the report's contents. When asked ifBromwich had given her permission during 
their conversation to pursue the structural e~ concerns, findings, and recommendations, 
- said that he had not. According to- it was evident to her and the other structural 
engineers that no one in BOEMRE s chain of command welcomed their concerns and 
recommendations. 

When we asked- ifBromwich had given her permission to pursue the structural engineers' 
concerns, findi~ recommendations she said that he "absolutely did not' (see Attachment 23). 
Like-- felt "there was no management buy-in' to their concerns. 

BOEMRE Issues Its Final Investigation Report 

The final BOEMRE Atlantis investigation report was released to the public on March 4, 2011 
(Attachment 28). An accompanying press release issued by BOEMRE stated: "Based on a thorough 
review ofthe evidence, the investigation found the majority of the allegations to be unfounded, but did 
find that there were a number of problems with the way that BP organized, stored, and labeled 
engineering drawings and documents. BOEMRE found no evidence that these documentation 
deficiencies created specific unsafe conditions on the Atlantis production platform" (Attachment 29). 
The press release quoted Bromwich as saying: "This report reflects a careful and comprehensive 
investigation of the allegations by an interdisciplinary team of lawyers, structural engineers [emphasis 
added], and other BOEMRE personnel, led by our Investigations and Review Unit." 

That afternoon, Bromwich emailed the BOEMRE personnel who participated in the investigation, 
thanking them for their efforts and noting that he had discussed with the structural engineers that there 
were still "broader issues that need to be pursued" (see Attachment 4). 

- said that she,-· and- reviewed the final report and were still dissatisfied (see 
Attachment 5). She said that they all thought that the report ignored the structural engineers' findings, 
stating:"[ skimmed through the rep01t and did not see anything that looked familiar." 
We asked- whether she believed the voices of the structural engineers who participated in the 
Atlantis investigation were fairly considered by BOEMRE management when it came to finalizing its 
investigation (see Attachment 26).- stated that while she initially believed that BOEMRE 
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management's approach to the investigation was based on "ignorance" of certain engineering 
processes, she came to believe that BOEMRE management was attempting to "tailor" the investigation 
in such a way as "to not find what [they] know is there." 

-said that she believed BOEMRE's regulatory oversight had weaknesses and that the bureau 
needed to gain a better understanding of its oversight responsibilities regarding the subsea components 
of drilling and production structures in the Gulf of Mexico (see Attachment 6). She explained that 
while the BOEMRE fi nal report referenced some of the structura l engineers fi ndings the report 
represented a legal response' to allegations instead of a comprehensive technical response. 
She believed that BOEMRE shou concerned about the greater issue ~1stead of only being 
concerned with strict compliance with Federal regulations. She said that- followed this strict 
approach, however, and became very defensive about the structural engineers attempts to address the 
safety issues they found regarding Atlantis' structural engineering drawings and subsea components. 

- also stated that she did not believe the final BOEMRE report was issued as a result of any 
"inappropriate conduct," and the structural engineers did ultimately have the opportuni ty to review the 
necessary drawings. She said, however, that the final report did not incorporate most of the findings, 
concerns, and recommendations in the structural engineers' report. She stated that the structural 
engineers' recommendations included areas that BOEMRE should follow up on, and it would be 
inappropriate not to do so. 

- also said that he reviewed the final report (see Attachment 9). He noted that several of its 
findings and conclusions differed from the structural engineers' February 7, 2011 report, but he did not 
feel he needed to say anything to anyone about this fact. He said that in the end, BOEMRE had the 
authority to issue a report as it saw fit, regardless of the structural engineers' findings. He said, 
however, that he fully stands behind their report, stating that unlike the final BOEMRE report, the 
structural engineers simply documented what they found without being manipulated by management's 
interpretations. 

Comparison of the Final Report by the Structural Engineers and the Final BOEMRE 
Atlantis Report 

OIG compared the findings of the structural engineers' final Atlantis report and the final BOEMRE 
Atlantis report and found several discrepancies (Attachment 30, and see Attachment 19). For 
example, we compared the two reports' findings on ROV inspections of subsea structures: 

BOEMRE's 
Findings 

The inspection report on the 20 I 0 ROY footage was prepared by 2H Offshore Inc. in January 
20 I I . .. . The report concluded that the Atlantis subsea equipment is in good condition, with 
the exception of jumper insulation, which was shown to have a number of cracks.* 

Structural 
Engineers' 
Findings 

The gas leak at the wellhead at GC 699 is an indication of well integrity problems [emphasis in 
original]. This leak was identified during an earlier inspection. The formations of hydrates at 
wellheads as well as fluid leaks at wellheads are indicative of well integrity problems. As well, 
the source of the burn marks on the wellheads should be identified. 

*Note: This section in the BOEMRE report included the footnote, quoted on page 16 of this report, which 
stated that BOEMRE was continuing its review of Atlantis' subsea components. 

After reviewing our comparison,- said that the structural engineers' conclusion that there were 
"well integrity problems" caught his attention and he exchanged several emails with- and 
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others inquiring about it. He said that the response he ultimately received from the structural engineers 
did not support changing the BOEMRE report's conclusion. 

According to •• he learned about the subsea ROY footage during the investigation, and he asked 
for the footage and associated reports for BOEMRE s review. After receiving the footage and reports, 
however, he believed that they were outside the scope of the investigation' origi nal task of analyzing 
- allegations related to the lack of as-built engineering drawings. He beli eved the structural 
engineers' findings and conclusions that went beyond this focus or that did not di rectly ident ify an 
ongoing safety concern or violation should remain separate from the BOE~ort to be fo llowed 
up in BOEMRE's continuing "regulatory review." This is why according to- he included the 
footnote in the BOEMRE report; he expected the structural engineers to fo llow up on their 
observations after the final BOEMRE report was released. 

We also compared the section in the BOEMRE report concerning problems with the labeling of 
engineering drawings with the language in the structural engineers' report: 

BOEMRE's 
Findings 

. We found that BP's engineering drawings relating to the Atlantis facility, which were 
prepared by a number of different contactors, were inconsistently labeled . .. . [and] that 
some drawings had inconsistent, undated, or missing engineer stamps. Other drawings had 
missing drawing numbers. We found that at least one of the subsea field architecture 
drawings was inconsistent with a subsea start-up chronology provided by BP .. . . These 
labeling and documentation problems alone do not constitute a violation of BOEMRE's 
regulations. Current BOEMRE regulations do not address how engineering drawings are to 
be stamped, organized and labeled. We find that BP complied with the requirements of 30 
C.F.R. § 250.903(a)(l) and 30 C.F.R. § 250.905(d). 

Structural 
Engineers' 
Findings 

• BP did not have a complete set of "approved for construction" engineering documents 
for all subsea components of the Atlantis platform and related facilities when it began 
production in October 2007. 

• BP does not have a complete set of "as built" engineering documents for the Atlantis 
facilities that are currently in operation; and therefore BP is not currently in compliance 
with 30 CFR 250.903(a)(l). 

• BP did not demonstrate that they can produce drawings on the spot given their current 
documentation system. Even when providing drawings to us back in August, there were 
some that were out of order or scattered. [A BP employee] stated that they, BP, had 
only two weeks to provide a smattering of drawings which proved to be a difficult task. 
This doesn't bode well for BP's capability of responding to an emergent situation. 

- explained that if he had believed that BP was not complying with the regulations regarding the 
as-built engineering drawings, he would have taken action against the company. He explained that 
ultimately he found BP's explanation of why all of the applicable engineering drawings were as-built 
draw~n though not all of them had the specific words "as built" on them, was more persuasive 
than- claim that the drawings could not be considered as-built unless labeled exactly in that 
manner. He also noted the difference of opinion between the structural engineers and the 
engineers as to whether or not Subpart I applied to subsea structures and cited SOL' s 
research determining that the subpart did not require as-built drawings of subsea components as 1 

for other weight-bearing components attached to the platform. 

During the investigation, - said, he received a live demonstration of BP' s document control 
system, in which BP employees demonstrated how they could access any as-built drawing of the 
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platform that was required by regulations.- told us that after viewing this demonstration, he 
became comfortable with BP' s ability to access these documents and drawings, and he believed BP did 
comply with Subpart I. 

We also compared the section in the BOEMRE report on alleged false or incomplete submissions of 
structural drawings with the language in the structural engineers' report: 

BOEMRE's 
Findings 

The "as built" requirements ... apply only to structures associated with the platform. 
BOEMRE defines structures "associated with the platform" as those structures that are 
weight bearing on the platform. The following structures fall within the scope of 30 C.F.R. 
250.90 I (a) [sic] and 30 C.F.R. 250.905(d): drilling, production, and pipeline risers and riser 
tensioning systems; turrets and turret-and-hull interfaces; foundations, foundation pilings 
and templates, and anchoring systems; and mooring or tethering systems. See 30 C.F.R. 
250.91 O(b) [emphasis added]. BOEMRE's regulations currently do not specifically require 
the submission and approval of "as built" drawings for subsea components. 

Structural 
Engineers' 
Findings 

[From a review of /35 mooring and foundation drawings for Atlantis] 

Drawings lacking a PE [professional engineer's] stamp, signed and dated 
Drawings not noted as having been issued for construction 
Drawings not noted as "as-built" 

[From a review of 43 flowline/riser drawings] 

Drawings lacking a PE stamp, signed and dated 
Drawings not noted as having been issued for construction 
Drawings not noted as "as-built" 

100% 
48% 

100% 

100% 
2% 

100% 

We showed the above comparison to- to show the way BOEMRE's final report differentiates 
between how its regulations apply to subsea components as opposed to risers and moorings or 
foundations. The BOEMRE final report acknowledges that the as-built requirement in the Subpart I 
regulations applies to risers and moorings or foundations, yet the structural engineers' findings 
indicated that 1 00 percent of both the risers and moorings or foundations drawings were not labeled 
"as built.·- repUed that the structural engineers' finding was probably a result ofthe.ir view that 
the drawings needed the exact words "as built" on them. He still beHeved however, that the 
regulations do not require the exact label or wording on the drawings as long as the drawings 
accurately represent the structures attached to the platform. 

- said that he had felt that the structural engineers had taken an 'undisciplined" approach to 
applying Federal regulations to the Atlantis platform. According to- if any facts had supported a 
violation or an ongoing safety concern, he would not have hesitated to identify those facts in the 
BOEMRE report and take action to correct the violations. 

- also stated that he believed the current regulations may not be as "robust" as he would like them 
to be. He believed the regulations should include specific requirements for engineering drawings for all 
components attached to a platform, subsea or otherwise, but he had to consider the regulations that 
applied at the time of Atlantis' construction and deployment in pursuing the Atlantis investigation. He 
reiterated that he had been fully prepared to hold BP accountable if the Atlantis investigation had 
found solid evidence that BP had violated BOEMRE's regulations. 
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We told- about- statement about the difference of o!!!"nion between the stmctural 
enginee~ production engineers, including his assertion that determined that the 
regulation did not require the maintenance of as-built drawings of su sea components as it did for 
other ''weight-bearing" components attached to the platform (see Attachment 26). said that 
she never learned where the idea came from that Subpart I should not apply to subsea components. She 
believed this interpretation is illogical because all of the structures below the water's surface are 
considered subsea components; therefore, she did not understand why the regulation distinguishes 
between subsea components because some of the components may be weight bearing and others not. fu 
fact, she said, structural engineers use the term "load bearing," as opposed to "weight bearing," to 
describe an effect on a stmcture, and "loading" is defined as any outside effect on a stmcture, 
including water ctuTents, temperatures, and so on. Accordingly, any components below the surface of 
the water would be load bearing. 

We told- about- conclusion that the Federal regulations do not require a label with the 
actual words "as built" on an engineering drawing in order to be in compliance. She responded that his 
explanation and acceptance of such drawin-· would be "unacceptable" to a stmctural engineer and 
"demonstrated malpractice." According to "if you take that position, you have created a 
world of hazard out there and a world of unknowns and a world of assumptions that the appropriate, 
correct knowledge" of a stmcture's design will be accurately transferred through the years to each new 
operator. She further said that based on the interviews conducted ofBP employees, it was obvious that 
creating as-built drawings was "a broken process" for much of Atlantis, particularly the subsea 
components. 

Alleged Conflict of Interest 

The Structural Engineers Speak of Difficulties With Approach and Leadership 

before being assigned to the Atlantis investigation (see 
first arrived at the office assigned to the Atlantis 

planned on "cutting the legs out from un~ False 
· to declare the Atlantis facility safe."~ that she 

as the lead, would make such a statement at the beginning of 

- said it became a~er that- was not interested in objectively reviewing 
Atlantis. In fact,==- had to~e was conducting the investigation as a 
''partner" of BP.-- believed that became frustrated with her after she confronted him 
with her interpretation of the regulations . to Atlantis. She said that after this discussion, 
- clearly wanted her to "shut up and do what I was being assigned." 

Dwing the fust phase of the investigation in Houston, said, she did not know whom to trust in 
BOEMRE, and the atmoSP.here in the · became "more and more hostile." fu 
one instance, according to- . was not present,- came into the 
office, closed the door, an~ said: "Your big mo~g to get you in 
trouble."- said that she felt shocked and threatened by this statement. 

-told us that she did not learn that- was a part of the original permitting process for 
"fueAtlantis platform until after the investigation was relocated to New Orleans (see Attachment 6). fu 
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addition to her discomfort with BP's probing actions in Houston, she said, she was also concerned 
about how- was leading the investigation- explained that BP was conducting its 
own iutern~tion into the Atlantis lawsuit a~ns and suggested that 
BOEMRE simply wait fur BP to finish and then review the BP a~ther than conduct 
its own investigation- further said that she had the impression that- wanted to find 
the facility safe. 

-said that- was not receptive to her concerns about the drawings produced by BP. 
~ she said, ~ften become defensive and repeatedly ask: "Does that violate 
regulations?" -said that based on lawsuit and the congressional request she believed 
that the fuodam~omponent of Atlantis needed to be reviewed, not just whether or 
not BP had strictly complied with Iegulations but did not seem to care whether the 
drawings provided by BP were accurate. 

BOEMRE Management, and the Production Engineers Deny a Conflict of Interest 

denied ever saying to- that her "big mouth" could get her into trouble (see 
He also stated that he did not recall ever saying that he planned on "cutting the legs out 

lawsuit or that he intended to "declare the Atlantis facility safe." According to 
made several untruthful statements about him and his character. He also said 

reg:manv berated and insulted the production engineers during the Atlantis investigation. 

out that- became the overall lead of tbe Atlantis investigation during its final 
di~uthor the final Atlantis rep01t. -also acknowledged that while 
analysis of the applicability of the BOEMRE riie lations for the final report 

provided a significant p01tion of the technical analysis "owned authorship, of 
--' ·'-"~n.u report (see Attachment 19). 

- the BOEMRE _petroletun engineer who assisted- in the beginning of the 
~stigation, said that she never observed anything~ make her question 
-professionalism while he led the investigation (Attachment 31). According toll any 
~ction engineers that were assigned to the Atlantis investigation would have spoken up if 
they believed Atlantis was unsafe in any way. She said that all ofthe production engineers recognized 
their burden of ensuring the safety of offshore facilities and took it very seriously. 
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Fmmer Production . now the Productions Operations Chief for the Houma 
District, stated that she was the original permitting of Atlantis after joining BOEMRE in 
2004 and participated in several of the final physi-al ins ectious of Atlantis before it went offshore 

Attaclnnent 21). At that time, she explained, was the Howna District manager, and 
th~oduction engineer for the Dtstrict. final approval of 

--- ··~··J pennits to- which was · many ofthe approval permits for 
Atlantis during its construction and commissionmg. 

According to- she believed that- was chosen to lead the Atlantis investigation not 
necessarily because of his past experien~e platfonn, but rather because he had the most 
production and subsea experience in BOEMRE's Gulf of Mexico Region.- explained that the 
Houma District dealt with deepwater and subsea production tar more often~e New Orleans 
District. She believed that she was chosen to assist- in the Atlantis investigation because of 
her experience in Houma. 

stated that she never heard any suggestion that she might have had a conflict of 
when conducting the Atlantis investigation because t~1or roles in permitting the 

platform.- said that she participated in the interviews ot- and his attorneys and they never 
alleged th~r- might be biased. 

- also said that she never had any impression that biased in his review of 
Atiruilis. She explained that he was her mentor for yem·s m Houma District and together 
they have always approached their reviews of a facility 'with an open mind." She told us she would 
never cons. ider trying to cover up a past ~she had made one when originally pennitting the 
facility and she said she was certain tha- believed similarly when starting the Atlantis 
investigation. 

We interviewed Work-Ov~tions · ofBOEMRE's Lake Jackson 
District 32).- was working as a · engineer in the Lake Charles District 
when him to asstst dming the second phase of the Atlantis investigation. 

According to- he never had any impression that- was biased in his review of 
Atlantis. He s~ had a high opinion who acted as a mentor to- in Lake 
Charles. further stated that he professionalism and ~at· 

· any potential claim of a conflict of interest, idea of a conflict never occurred to 
him while he was assisting with the investigation. 

is a production engineer for BOEMRE's Lake Jackson District (Attachment 33). At the 
................ investigation, also worked in the Lake Charles District. He said that he 

started assisting with the · · request during the first phase. He was taken off 
the Atlantis investigation after the Deepwater explosion, but resumed his work on the project 
during the second phase. 
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. te t d what he said to mean that he was determined to find Atlantis safe. According to-
never said anything of the sort, and- had no idea how she had come to this 
. In fact according to- as he assisted with the Atlantis investigation it became his 

-impression that- was convmced that BP was guil~use the stmctural engineers were 
always trying to compare Atlantis to Deepwater Horizon.- said that he assisted with the Atlantis 
investigation for approximately 5 weeks and the tension between and continued 
the entire time. 

Finally, -told us that he had communicated regularly with- during the Atlantis 
investigation and he believed tha- did his best to be o"bjectiVe""(ee Attachment 19)-
admitted tha- "probab~ot have been in charge of the Atlantis in-esh at:ton 
because of the appearance of a conflict of interest, but did not observe any bias on 
part~ the investigation. He fi.uther pointed out that was not involved in e interviews 
that-led at the end of2010. 

Allegation Tllat BOEMRE's Atlantis ~ed To Interpret or Comment 
on 30 C.F.R. § 250.90J(d) (2002) and Tllat- Failed To Ens11re Its Compliance 

According to the 2002 version of 30 C.F.R. § 250.90l(d): "[T]he lessee shall also sign, date, and 
submit the following certification: Lessee certifies that the design of the stmctme/modification has 
been certified by a registered professional structural or a civil engineer specializing in structural 
design, and the structure/modification will be fabricated, installed, and maintained as described in the 
application and any approved modification thereto." This was the applicable regulation at the time BP 
filed its permit applications for the const:tuction and deployment of Atlantis. 

According t~ he did not remember any discussion concerning 30 C.F.R. § 250.901(d).002 
d~·ing the A~inv~tiga~ion (see Atta~hm~nt : 9).- said t~at he did not believe that 
raised the subject of this partJ.cnlar regulat:ton m his ongmal complamt and therefore BOEMRE di not 
consider its applicability. He acknowledged that BOEMRE s failure to consider this · could 
represent a "gap, in its Atlantis fmdings ; however, since it was not included in 
complaint, he did not believe it was necessarily within the pmview of the · 
explained that he was not aware of any aspect o~ complaint that concerned 
professional engineer until after several related depositions occurred in September 20 11 
approximately 6 months after the release ofBOEMRE's fmal Atlantis report. 

We asked-about- attorney's allegation that he failed to adequaii.e1 review the list of 
cei1ified engineers that BP p~to BOEMRE drul.ng its investigation which attl!!rne 
claimed was required under the 2002 version of30 C.F.R. § 250.901(d) (seeAttac · ent 3). 
replied that according to the regulations at the time BOEMRE was only required to ask a company or 
a letter of cet1ification stating that an engineer had certified the structure's design and that the structure 
would be fabricated, installed, and maintained as described in the application and any approved 
modification. He said that he was trained to accept the letter, which is what BOEMRE did for all 



All deletions have been made under 5 U.S. C.§§ 552(b)(6) and (b)(7)(C) unless otherwise noted 

companies under the regulation, and not to look beyond it because the "playing field had to be level" 
for all companies. 

According to-, the Department did not ask her for an opinion on 30 C.F.R. § 250.901(d) (2002) 
when she help:rB0EMRE with its Atlantis investigation (see Attachment 15). She believed that 
- attomeys did not raise the issue of whether certain structural plans or drawings had been 
==by a registered professional structural engineer until after the BOEMRE Atlantis report was 
issued in March 2011. She also stated that she first recalled hearing about this issue around the time 
several BOEMRE engineers, including- were being deposed in relation to- case in 
September 2011. 

We told-that- stated in his deposition testimony that he was not trained to look 
beyond t'he"iei't: of c~ to determine if each structural engineering drawing was ce11ified by a 
registered professional structural engineer. - replied that she did not analyze whether the 
regulations required each structural drawing to have a certification stamp. She recalled that­
attorneys had argued that the manner of certification depended on Texas State law· most ofAfi:rtis 
had been built in Texas, and Texas required a certification stamp by an enginee1· on each drawing. 

We reviewed all of-lawsuit filings, and 30 C.F.R. § 250.901(d) (2002) was not mentioned in 
any of them until after BOEl\.1RE released its fmal Atlantis report in March 20 ll. 
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